

BUKTI KORESPONDENSI
ARTIKEL JURNAL INTERNASIONAL BEREPUTASI

Judul artikel : Evaluation of yeast supplementation with urea-molasses in rice straw-based diets on in vitro ruminal fermentation

Jurnal : Pakistan Journal of Nutrition 2015 14 (12): 988 - 993

Penulis : A.I.M. Ali, S. Sandi, Riswandi, A. Imsya, A. Prabowo and N. Rofiq

No	Perihal	Tanggal
1	Bukti konfirmasi submit artikel dan artikel yang disubmit	17/10/2014
2	Bukti konfirmasi review dan hasil review	12/10/2015
3	Bukti konfirmasi submit artikel dan artikel yang disubmit	18/10/2015
7	Bukti konfirmasi artikel accepted	-
8	Terpublish	



asep ali <asepali76@gmail.com>

manuscript submission

asep ali <asepali76@gmail.com>

Fri, Oct 17, 2014 at 8:20 AM

To: editorpjn@gmail.com

Cc: asepa_ali@fp.unsri.ac.id, sofiasandi_nasir@yahoo.com, riswandi_dya@yahoo.com

Dear editor pjn

Herewith I attached our article in title Evaluation of yeast supplementation with Urea Molasses and Rice Straw based diets on in vitro ruminal fermentation

I am very glad if our paper can submit in Pakistan journal of nutrition

Thanks for your support

Sincerely

Asep Indra Munawar Ali

**Ali et al evaluation of yeast supplementation with urea molasses n rice straw based diets on invitro ruminal fermentation.doc**

151K



asep ali <asepali76@gmail.com>

Trs: Language editing of the article

Sofia Sandi <sofiasandi_nasir@yahoo.com>

Wed, Sep 16, 2015 at 2:30 PM

Reply-To: Sofia Sandi <sofiasandi_nasir@yahoo.com>

To: "asep_ali@fp.unsri.ac.id" <asep_ali@fp.unsri.ac.id>, Ali Asep <asepali76@gmail.com>, FP NMT Asep <indranutrisi@yahoo.co.id>

bos tolong ya perbaiki draf dr jernalnya pakistan ini yo

Pada Rabu, 16 September 2015 13:52, Pak. J. Nutrition <editorpjn@gmail.com> menulis:

Dr. Sofia Sandi

Subject: Referee's comments on the article titled "Evaluation of yeast supplementation with Urea Molasses in Rice Straw based diets on *in vitro* ruminal fermentation

By: Ali A.I.M., S.Sandi, Riswandi, A. Imsya, A.Prabowo, N. Rofiq

Dr. Sofia Sandi

We are pleased to inform you that your research article has been accepted for publication in Pakistan Journal of Nutrition. However, a large number of grammatical and sentence construction errors are found in your article. Most of the sentences are haphazard. Pakistan Journal of Nutrition is very much concerned about the clarity and professionalism of your manuscript. Our database shows that a large number of research articles were rejected due to a number of grammatical mistakes. You can negotiate with [American Journal Experts](#) and [Bioscience Editing Solutions](#) to provide you language editing services at competitive rates. You can also improve the quality of your article with the help of your senior Professors.

Non English authors may contact with [American Journal Experts](#) or [Bioscience Editing Solutions](#) for professional scientific editing services before submission or after acceptance of their manuscripts to eliminate (minimize) the chances of rejection due to poor English.

You are therefore requested that please re-submit your article after editing its language for further processing.

WAITING FOR YOUR QUICK RESPONSE

Dir. Publication

Pakistan Journal of Nutrition

Asian Network for Scientific Information,

308 - Lasani Town, Sargodha Road,

Faisalabad, Pakistan

E-mail: editorpjn@gmail.com

<http://www.pjbs.org/pjnonline/index.htm>

From: Sofia Sandi [mailto:sofiasandi_nasir@yahoo.com]**Sent:** Sunday, September 13, 2015 6:57 PM**To:** editorpjn@gmail.com**Subject:** article at sofia sandi

Dear editor pjn

Herewith I attached our artice~~l~~ in title Evaluation of yeast supplementation with Urea Molasses and Rice Straw based diets on in vitro ruminal fermentation

I am very glad if our paper can submit in Pakistan journal of nutrition

Thanks for your support

Sincerely

S. sandi

Evaluation of yeast supplementation with urea-molasses in rice straw-based diets on *in vitro* ruminal fermentation

Ali A.I.M.,¹ S. Sandi,¹ Riswandi,¹ A. Imsya,¹ A. Prabowo,² N. Rofiq³

¹Department of Animal Science, Faculty of Agriculture, University of Sriwijaya
Jl. Palembang-Prabumulih km 32, Indralaya, Ogan Ilir, Sumatera Selatan, Indonesia 30662
Tel.: +62711581106; Fax: +62711580276 (email: asep_ali@fp.unsri.ac.id).

²South Sumatra Agricultural Institute for Assessment Technology, (BPPT) Indonesia
(email: nasir_rofiq@yahoo.com)

³Agency for The Assessment and Application of Technology (BPTP) (email:
agung_pbowo@yahoo.com)

Abstract: The effects of yeast supplementation on *in vitro* fermentation characteristics of rice straw and urea-molasses diets in Indonesian swamp buffalo were examined; five doses of yeast (0, 2.5, 5.0, 7.5, and 10 g•head⁻¹•d⁻¹) were tested. The results indicated that yeast supplementation increased dry and organic matter, neutral detergent fiber, cellulose, and hemicellulose degradability, ammonia-nitrogen and total volatile fatty acid concentration, and decreased the ruminal pH but had no effect on acid detergent fiber degradability or cellulolytic bacterial or protozoan populations. Supplementation with yeast supported ruminal fermentation of urea-molasses and rice straw-based diets, with 5.0 g yeast•head⁻¹•d⁻¹ showing the greatest response for most variables tested.

Key words: Yeast, degradability, cellulolytic bacterial and protozoan populations

Commented [MB1]: This abbreviation should be defined here.

Commented [MB2]: This abbreviation should be defined here.

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Commented [MB3]: Serial commas are typically used in American English.

Formatted: Font: Bold

INTRODUCTION

The grazing of buffalo in nontidal swamps in Lebak, South Sumatra (Indonesia) has long since been an effort to utilize deep swamps for meat and milk production. However, the population of swamp buffalo in some subdistricts of South Sumatra have declined due to poor management and especially insufficient feed supplies during the dry season (Ali *et al.*, 2013). Like other ruminants in developing countries, swamp buffalo in these subdistricts are predominantly maintained on low-grade roughage and graze on degraded range land, resulting in poor nutrient utilization and productivity. Therefore, forages must be enhanced in accordance with the swamp agroecosystem. One way to do so is through utilization of Lebak swamp rice straw to enhance forage supplies in the dry season.

Rice straw production each year is plentiful in South Sumatra and can potentially overcome the shortage of ruminant feed. The South Sumatra Central Bureau of Statistics (BPS) recorded swamp paddy production of dry unhulled rice to be around 1.65 million tons in 2011. On average, 0.83 kg of straw is produced with each kilogram of paddy grain (Trach, 1998), resulting in 1.37 million tons of rice straw produced in swamp areas. However, there are some limitations to utilizing rice straw as ruminant feed. Rice straw consists predominantly of cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin, and ruminant organisms need other nutrients for growth and metabolism (Hoover, 1986). Since rice straw does not contain enough sugars, amino acids, and minerals for efficient microbial growth, feeding ruminants only rice straw without further supplementation results in poor performance (Doyle *et al.*, 1986). Supplementation of rice straw rations with protein, energy, and/or minerals, such as concentrates, molasses, multivitamin blocks, green leaves, crop residues, and locally available byproducts may optimize rumen function, while maximizing utilization of rice straw.

Commented [MB5]: Only latin words and abbreviations should be italicized.

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Commented [MB7]: Please specify exactly what is meant by "degraded" in this statement (i.e., how so?).

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Commented [MB8]: Please insert the year associated with this citation, otherwise it appears as though it is simply an abbreviation, which is not correct. Furthermore, this citation should be included at the end of the sentence instead of here.

Commented [MB9]: It is not necessary to state this.

Commented [MB11]: Concentrates of what? Please specify for clarity. Other issues with this word are highlighted in teal.

Commented [MB12]: What type of byproducts (e.g., plant byproducts, etc.?) Please specify for clarity.

Urea-molasses is widely used for supplementation of swamp buffalo (Ali *et al.*, 2013b; Tanwar *et al.*, 2013; Thu *et al.*, 2000; Thu & Uden 2001; Tiwari *et al.*, 1990) and other ruminants ((Vu *et al.*, 1999; Wanapat *et al.*, 1999; Akter *et al.*, 2004) with straw-based diets. Moreover, yeast (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*) supplementation can beneficially modify microbial activity, fermentation, and digestive functions in the rumen. Most investigators agree that yeast can have measurable effects on ruminal fermentation and results in beneficial changes in digestion. However, there are limited reports regarding yeast supplementation of high roughage ratios with urea-molasses and rice straw-based diets. The main objectives of the current study were to investigate the effect yeast supplementation on *in vitro* ruminal fermentation of urea-molasses with rice straw-based diets.

Commented [MB13]: Please verify whether this should say "rations" instead.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Substrate and Rumen Liquor Preparation: The substrate for *in vitro* ruminal fermentation was a dry matter-based mixed ratio of rice straw (80%) and 20% urea-molasses supplementation (1.85% urea, 5.94% molasses, 4.83% rice bran, 3.50% tofu waste, 2.05% cassava meal, 0.92% NaCl, 0.49% limestone flour, 0.36% trisodium phosphate, and 0.05% mineral and vitamin premix). Diets were estimated according to the requirements of a 200-kg swamp buffalo with a 5.22-kg dry matter intake and 0.62-kg weight change per day (Thu and Uden, 2001). The chemical composition of diets is reported in Table 1.

Commented [MB14]: Please verify whether this should say "rations" instead.

Rice straw (*Oryza sativa* var. ciherang) was harvested on August 2014 from the swamp paddy field, dried in an oven (60 °C), and ground. Rice bran, limestone flour, and trisodium phosphate were obtained from a traditional market in the Ogan Ilir district. Solid tofu waste (local name: "ampas tahu") from the local tofu industry was dried in an oven

Commented [MB18]: The name/location of this particular swamp paddy field should be included here.

Commented [MB19]: Please specify how well it was ground – into a fine powder, a course powder, etc.?

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

(60 °C) after being milled and extracting the soybeans. Cassava meal was prepared from bitter cassava roots, cut into thin slices, and sun-dried. All ingredients were ground and sifted through a 1-mm screen for chemical analysis. The mineral and vitamin premix (cattle mix) contained 1 g Mg•kg⁻¹, 1 g Co•kg⁻¹, 3.3 g P•kg⁻¹, 7 g Ca•kg⁻¹, 6.5 g Na•kg⁻¹, 1 g S•kg⁻¹, 50 mg Fe•kg⁻¹, 40 mg Mn•kg⁻¹, 30 mg Zn•kg⁻¹, 8 mg Cu•kg⁻¹, 500 µg I•kg⁻¹, 200 µg Se•kg⁻¹, 30,000 IU vitamin A•kg⁻¹, 3,500 IU vitamin D•kg⁻¹, and 900 IU vitamin E•kg⁻¹. The yeast used for supplementation was Yea-Sacc¹⁰²⁶, a yeast culture with a declared concentration of 10⁹ CFU•g⁻¹, 34.58% crude protein, 7.2% crude fat, 10.44% acid detergent fiber (ADF), and 7.42% ash.

The dry matter content was determined by oven-drying at 105 °C for 24 h. The organic matter was determined by ashing at 550 °C for 4 h. Total nitrogen content was determined according to the Kjeldahl method (AOAC, 1995). The content of neutral detergent fiber (NDF), ADF, cellulose, and hemicellulose in the rice straw was determined using the method reported by Van Soest *et al.* (1991). Rumen liquor was collected from swamp buffalo rumen at a slaughter house. These buffalo were fed a diet consisting of *Oryza rufipogon*, *Eleocharis dulcis*, and *Hymenachne acutigluma* in the Rambutan subdistrict of Banyuasin district, South Sumatra province. Ruminal contents from buffalo were strained through two layers of cheese cloth and kept at 39 °C under a CO₂ atmosphere.

In Vitro Fermentation (Tilley & Terry, 1963): The substrate (1 g) was put into a 100-ml fermentation tube, and 40 ml of McDougall buffer and 10 ml of rumen liquor were added. McDougall buffer (6 L) contained 58.8 g NaHCO₃, 42 g Na₂HPO₄•7H₂O, 3.42 g KCl, 2.82 g NaCl, 0.72 g MgSO₄•7H₂O, 0.24 g CaCl₂, and H₂O. The mixture was stirred and flushed

Commented [MB21]: It might be best to specify from where this cassava was obtained.

Commented [MB22]: These words should only be capitalized if they are a proper noun.

Formatted: Superscript

Formatted: Superscript

Commented [MB25]: Abbreviations should be defined at first use in the main text, apart from the Abstract.

Commented [MB26]: There should always be a space between a number and its units.

Commented [MB31]: Please verify whether this edit is correct.

Commented [MB32]: It would be best to specify how much H₂O was added.

with O₂-free CO₂, and then the tubes were sealed with a rubber fitted with the gas release valve. All fermentation tubes were incubated in a shaking water bath at 39 °C for 48 h.

Formatted: Subscript

Commented [MB34]: Please specify what the tubes were fitted with that was rubber.

Estimation of volatile fatty acid (VFA) and ammonia-nitrogen (N-NH₃)

Formatted: Subscript

Concentration and *In Vitro* Degradability: Measurement of total VFA content was done using a previously reported steam distillation method (General Laboratory Procedures, 1966), and the N-NH₃ concentration was determined using a previous microdiffusion method (Conway, 1962). The total VFA concentration in rumenal fluid was determined by Markham's distillation. To determine the *in vitro* degradability of dry and organic matter, NDF, ADF, cellulose, and hemicellulose (Van Soest *et al.*, 1991), the content of the fermentation tube incubated for 48 h was transferred into a new tube and centrifuged at 2500 rpm for 20 min at room temperature. After, the supernatant was discarded, and the remaining residue was passed through a filter paper (Whatman no. 41). The residue of each fermentation tube was dried to a constant weight at 105 °C for 24 h to determine *in vitro* degradability.

Formatted: Subscript

Protozoal and Bacterial Counts: After a 48-h incubation, a 1-ml aliquot was taken from each fermentation tube for analysis of protozoan and bacterial populations. The contents of the fermentation tube were mixed properly and 1 ml of the sample was mixed with 1 ml methyl green formaldehyde saline solution containing 35% formaldehyde, distilled water, methyl green, and NaCl (Ogimoto & Imai, 1981). The stained sample was kept at room temperature, and protozoan populations were counted using a counting chamber (0.1 mm) and a microscope (40X objective). Bacterial populations were determined using a roll-tube technique (Hungate, 1969).

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Experimental design: The completely randomized design of the current study was chosen to evaluate five different doses of yeast (0, 2.5, 5.0, 7.5, and 10 g•head⁻¹•d⁻¹) with four replications. Data were analyzed by analysis of variance, and mean values were tested for differences using Duncan's New Multi-Range Test.

Commented [MB36]: P-value significance cut-offs should be described in this section as well.

Commented [MB37]: Note: This type of subsection is typically labeled "Statistical Analysis".

RESULTS

The chemical composition of the rice straw and urea-molasses, as well as buffalo diet ingredients, are presented in Table 1. pH, VFA, and N-NH₃ are important parameters reflecting ruminal environment. Yeast supplementation decreased the ruminal pH by 0.06 units compared to controls (Table 2). The highest pH occurred in samples with 0 g yeast supplementation, and the lowest was seen with 7.5 g yeast. Nonetheless, the ruminal pH range in all sample groups was optimal (6.0-6.9). The concentration of N-NH₃ was 7.57, 10.05, 11.07, 9.41, and 10.19 mM with 0, 2.5, 5.0, 7.5, and 10 g yeast, respectively (P<0.01; Table 2). VFA concentrations were significantly higher (P<0.01) in yeast-supplemented diets (74.63-94.10 mM) compared to the control diet (56.52 mM; Table 2). Results of this trial showed that yeast **could not** stimulate growth of cellulolytic bacterial and protozoan populations.

Commented [MB39]: Contractions should not be used in formal manuscripts.

In vitro degradability of dry and organic matter was increased by supplementation with yeast (P<0.01). Dry and organic matter degradability with 5.0 g yeast was similar to that with 7.5 and 10 g yeast but higher than with 0 and 2.5 g (P<0.01). Furthermore, yeast supplementation affected NDF degradability but not ADF.

DISCUSSION

The chemical composition of rice straw was similar to results reported previously (Tan *et al.*, 1996; Thalib *et al.*, 2000; Van Soest 2006). **This rice straw had greater NDF,**

ADF, cellulose, and hemicellulose and lower crude protein content compared to the others. Moreover, urea-molasses supplementation with locally available products decreased the fiber fraction and increased crude protein content in the diet.

Commented [MB41]: Please specify whether this refers to the current study or the previous studies listed in the first sentence of the paragraph.

Although there were significant differences on rumen pH among the different yeast treatments in the current study, the differences was small. Ruminant pH affects digestibility of feed stuffs. Fibrolytic bacteria are very sensitive and dependent on pH changes. In fact, the digestibility of organic matter, NDF, and nitrogen decrease at pH 5.8 and increase at pH 6.2. Production of total VFA content was shown to be highest between pH 6.2 and 6.6 in high concentrate diets (Shriver *et al.*, 1986). Sung *et al.* (2007) reported increases dry matter digestion and VFA production from pH 6.2 to 6.7 after 48 h of *in vitro* rumen fermentation. Dolezal *et al.* (2011) reported that yeast supplementation increased ruminal pH in high concentrate diets, while Mao *et al.* (2013) found that ruminal pH increased in rice straw- but decreased in corn stover-based substrate diets with yeast supplementation. The current results are consistent with results observed by Lynch and Martin (2002), where live cells decreased ruminal pH when alfalfa hay was incubated. These differences in ruminal pH were likely associated with the lactic acid concentration and differences in substrate degradation with yeast supplementation. Compared with Thu and Uden (2001), the control treatment had a similar pH but lower concentration of NH_3 .

Formatted: Highlight

Commented [MB42]: This sentence was rephrased to improve clarity and flow.

Formatted: Highlight

Commented [MB43]: Please clarify whether this means incubated prior to feeding, or *in vitro* or *in vivo* fermentation time.

Commented [MB44]: Please verify whether the edited sentence is still correct as the original did not quite make sense. Also, please clarify whether this refers to the current study or just the differences described by Lynch & Martin (2002).

Commented [MB45]: Please verify whether this should say "N-NH₃" instead.

Commented [MB46]: Please clarify whether this statement is a comparison between the current study or Lynch & Martin (2002) and Thu and Uden (2001).

Ammonia is the main source of nitrogen for microbial protein synthesis (Bach *et al.*, 2005). The present results showed that yeast supplementation increased the N-NH₃ concentration. This is in agreement with Mao *et al.* (2013) who reported a N-NH₃ concentration of 8.0 mg per 100 ml in controls and 8.3-10.5 mg per 100 ml in animals supplemented with rice straw. Zain *et al.* (2011) found that yeast supplementation decreased N-NH₃ concentrations in ammoniated rice straw. Opsi *et al.* (2012) reported that yeast supplementation increased N-NH₃ in high forage diets but did not affect high

Commented [MB47]: Please verify whether it was the rice straw that was supplemented in this study or something else supplementing the rice straw diet.

concentrate diets. It is likely that increases in N-NH₃ output represent microbial degradation of large amounts of yeast cells which have a high protein content.

Formatted: Highlight

Supplementation of high-fiber diets with yeast additives affected total VFA production in the current study. This result is consistent with the slight decline in rumen pH discussed above and also agree with reports by Mao *et al.* (2013), Zain *et al.* (2011), and Opsi *et al.* (2012), among other *in vivo* studies, indicating stimulation of rumen microbial fermentation activity. This alteration in ruminal VFA by yeast supplementation could contribute to improved feed efficiency in swamp buffalo. Wallace and Newbold (1992) suggested that variable responses in VFA production and patterns are a consequence of the effects of yeast on rumen microbial numbers rather than a direct effect on ruminal fermentation.

Data regarding the 48-h degradability of diets in the present study are presented in Table 2; the current results generally agree with previous experiments (Lila *et al.*, 2004; Tang *et al.*, 2008; Zain *et al.*, 2011). Lila *et al.* (2004) reported that *in vitro* dry matter degradability increased with yeast supplementation of sudangrass hay and concentrate mixtures. Zain *et al.* (2011) reported that yeast supplementation increased dry and organic matter, NDF, ADF, and cellulose degradability. Herawaty *et al.* (2013) reported that yeast supplementation increased the degradability of organic matter, NDF, and ADF more than a diet of unsupplemented rice straw alone. When yeast was supplemented at 5.0 g•kg⁻¹, the greatest dry matter degradability occurred for maize stover, maize stover silage, and wheat straw but generally decreased with rice straw. On the other hand, yeast supplementation increased organic matter degradability of maize stover, maize stover silage, and rice straw (Tang *et al.*, 2008). Opsi *et al.* (2012) reported that supplementation of yeast had not effect on dry matter and NDF digestibility in high and low forage ratio diets.

Formatted: Highlight

Commented [MB48]: Please verify whether the edited sentence is still correct as the original did not quite make sense contextually.

Commented [MB49]: Please specify whether this refers to results in the Herawaty et al (2013) study or the current study for clarity.

Commented [MB50]: Please verify whether this should say "rations" instead.

In the present study, yeast supplementation did not significantly affect bacterial and protozoan numbers in the *in vitro* fermentation test even though they tended to increase. Previous studies have reported that yeast supplementation increased cellulolytic bacteria and protozoa significantly *in vitro* (Mao *et al.*, 2013; Newbold *et al.*, 1995; Zain *et al.* 2011) and *in vivo* in buffalo (Kumar *et al.*, 2013). However, no significant effect of yeast on protozoa was observed (Hristov *et al.* 2010; Yoon and Stern, 1996). Increased dry and organic matter, NDF, cellulose, and hemicellulose degradability, as well as VFA production with different substrates could be attributed to an increased fiber-digesting bacterial population.

Commented [MB51]: This statement is in direct contrast to the previous. Please clarify this discrepancy.

CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS

It is concluded that yeast supplementation of urea-molasses and rice straw diets increases the degradability of dry and organic matter, NDF, cellulose, and hemicellulose, the concentration of N-NH₃ and VFA, but decreases the rumen pH. The current results also showed that supplementation with 5.0 g yeast•head⁻¹•d⁻¹ provides the greatest response for most variables tested. *In vivo* studies of yeast supplementation should be implemented in future to optimize the utilization of dietary nutrients and improve production in buffalo fed low-quality roughage.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Financial support for this work was provided by a competitive research grant from the Sriwijaya University (Palembang, Indonesia) in 2014. The authors would like to thank the Research Center for Sub-Optimal Lands, and Laboratory of Animal Nutrition and Feed Science of Sriwijaya University, as well as the Laboratory of Dairy Science and Technology, Bogor Agricultural University (Bogor, Indonesia) for use of their facilities.

REFERENCES

- Akter, Y., M. A. Akbar, M. Shahjalal and T. U. Ahmed. 2004. Effect of urea molasses multi-nutrient blocks supplementation of dairy cows fed rice straw and green grasses on milk yield, composition, live weight gain of cows and calves and feed intake. *Pak. J. Biol. Sci.* 7(9):1523-1525.
- Ali A.I.M., S. Sandi, Muhakka, Riswandi. 2013a. The grazing of pampangan buffaloes at non tidal swamp in south sumatra of Indonesia. Prosiding the 2013 3rd International Conference on Asia Agriculture and Animal (ICAAA2013). 27-28 Juli 2013 di Moscow, Russia (Available online at www.elsevier.com/locate/procedia or www.sciencedirect.com).
- Ali A.I.M., S. Sandi, Muhakka, Riswandi. 2013b. Aplikasi Teknologi Pengelolaan Pakan & Upaya Pemuliaan Kerbau Pampangan Sebagai Plasma Nutfah Sumatera Selatan. Research Report 2013. Ministry of Science & Technology, Republic of Indonesia.. http://insentif.ristek.go.id/assets/docs/Direktori_Insinas_2013.pdf
- AOAC. 1995. Official Methods of Analysis. 16th ed. Assoc. Off. Anal.Chem., Arlington, VA.
- Bach, A., S. Calsamiglia, and M. D. Stern. 2005. Nitrogen metabolism in the rumen. *J. Dairy Sci.* 88 (E. Suppl), E9-E21.
- BPS. 2010. Biro Pusat Statistik. Produksi Padi tahun 2010. Jakarta.
- Conway, E. J. 1962. Microdiffusion Analysis and Volumetric Error. 5th ed. Crosby Lockwood, London
- Doležal p, Jan Dvořáček, J Doležal, J Čermáková, L Zeman, K Szwedziak. 2011. Effect of feeding yeast culture on ruminal fermentation and blood indicators of Holstein dairy cows. *Acta Vet. Brno* 80: 139–145

- Doyle, P. T., C. Devendra and G. R. Pearce. 1986. Rice straw as a feed for ruminants. IDP, Canberra, Australia.
- General Laboratory Procedures. 1966. Department of Dairy Science. University of Wisconsin, Madison.
- Herawaty R., N. Jamarun, M. Zain, Arnim and R.W.S. Ningrat. 2013. Effect of Supplementation *Sacharomyces cerevisiae* and *Leucaena leucocephala* on Low Quality Roughage Feed in Beef Cattle Diet. Pakistan Journal of Nutrition 12: 182-184.
- Hungate R.E. 1969, A Roll tube method for cultivation of strict anaerobe, in Method in Microbiology (Ed. J. R. Norris and D. W. Ribbons), Academic Press, New York, , p. 313.
- Hoover, W. H. 1986. Chemical factors involved in ruminal fiber digestion. J. Dairy Sci. 69:2755-2766.
- Hristov, A. N., G. Varga, T. Cassidy, M. Long, K. Heyler, S. K. R. Kaenati, B. Corl, J. Hovde, and I. Yoon. 2010. Effect of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* fermentation product on ruminal fermentation and nutrient utilization in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 93: 682-692.
- Kumar D.S, Ch. Srinivasa Prasad and R.M.V. Prasad. 2013. Effect of yeast culture (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*) on ruminal microbial population in buffalo bulls. Buffalo bulletin 32:116-120.
- Lila, Z. A., N. Mohammed, T. Yasui, Y.Kurokawa, S. Kanda and H. Itabashi, 2004. Effects of twin strain of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* live cells on mixed ruminal microorganism fermentation in vitro. J. Anim. Sci., 82: 1847–1854.

- Lynch, H.A. and Martin, S. A. 2002. Effects of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* culture and *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* live cells on *in vitro* mixed ruminal microorganism fermentation. *J. Dairy Sci.* 85, 2603–2608.
- Mao H.L., Mao H.L., J.K. Wang, J.X. Liu and I. Yoon. 2013. Effects of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* fermentation product on *in vitro* fermentation and microbial communities of low-quality forages and mixed diets. *J Anim Sci* 91: 3291-3298
- Newbold C. J., Wallace R. J and. Mcintosh F. M. (1995): Different strains of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* differ in their effects on ruminal bacterial numbers *in vitro* and in sheep. *J. Anim. Sci.* 73,1811–1818.
- Ogimoto, K. & S. Imai. 1981. Atlas of Rumen Microbiology. Japan Scientific Societies Press. Tokyo. pp. 201-221.
- Opsi F., R. Fortina, S. Tassone, R. Bodas and S. López. 2012. . Effects of inactivated and live cells of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* on *in vitro* ruminal fermentation of diets with different forage: concentrate ratio. *J. Agri Sci.* 150, 271–283
- Shiver, B.J., W.H. Hoover, J.P. Sargen, R. Crawford and W.V. Thayne. 1986. Fermentation of high concentrate as affected by rumen pH and digesta flow. *J. Dairy Sci* 69:413-419.
- Singh P and J.Kishan. 1999. Evaluation of various modes of urea supplementation in straw based diets of Murrah buffalo calves. *Indian J. Anim. Sci.* 69: 986-987.
- Sung H.G, Y. Kobayashi, J. Chang, A. Ha, I. H. Hwang, and J. K. Ha. 2007. Low ruminal pH reduces dietary fiber digestion via reduced microbial attachment. *Asian-Aust. J. Anim. Sci.* 20: 200 – 207.
- Tang, S.X., Tayo, G.O., Tan, Z.L., Sun, Z.H., Shen, L.X., Zhou, C.S., Xiao, W.J., Ren, G.P., Han, X.F. and Shen, S.B., 2008. Effects of yeast culture and fibrolytic

- enzyme supplementation on in vitro fermentation characteristics of low-quality cereal straws. *J. Anim. Sci.* 86:1164–1172.
- Tanwar P.S., YKumar and R.S. Rathore. 2013. Effect of urea molasses mineral block (UMMB) supplementation on milk production in buffaloes under rural management practices. *The Journal of Rural and Agricultural Research* 13:, 19-21
- Tan, Z. L., H. P. Chen, and T. X. Xing. 1996. Comparative study on fiber characteristics of rice and wheat straw. *Asian-australasian J. Anim. Sci.* 9:51–56.
- Thalib, A., J. Bestari, Y. Widiawati, H. Hamid dan D.Suherman. 2000. Effect of rice straw silage treated with rumen microbes of buffalo on digestibility and ecosystem of cattle rumen. *J. Ilmu Ternak & Veteriner* 5: 1-6.
- Tilley, J. M. & R. A. Terry. 1963. A two stage technique for *in vitro* digestion of forage crops. *J. British Grassland Society* 18:104-111.
- Thu, N.V. and P. Uden. 2000. Effect of work and urea-molasses cake supplementation on live weight and milk yield of murreh buffalo cows. *Asian-Aust. J. of Anim Sci.* 13:1329-1336
- Thu, N.V., and Uden, P. 2001. Effect of urea molasses cake supplementation of swamp buffaloes fed rice straw or grasses on rumen environment, feed degradation and intake. *Asian Aust J Anim Sci.* 14: 631-39.
- Tiwari S.P., U.B. Singh and U.R. Mehra. 1990. Urea Molasses Mineral Blocks as a Feed Supplement: Effect on Growth and Nutrient Utilization in Buffalo Calves. *Animal Feed Science and Technology.* 29:333-341.

- Trach, N.X. 1998. The need for improved utilisation of rice straw as feed for ruminants in Vietnam. *Livestock Research for Rural Development*, 10.
- Van Soest, P. J., J. B. Robertson, and B. A. Lewis. 1991. Methods for dietary fiber, neutral detergent fiber and non-starch polysaccharides in relation to animal nutrition. *J. Dairy Sci.* 74:3583–3597.
- Vu, D. D., L. X. Cuong, C. A. Dung and P. H. Hai. 1999. Use of urea-molasses-multinutrient block and urea-treated rice straw for improving dairy cattle productivity in Vietnam. *Prev. Vet. Med* 38:187-193.
- Wanapat, M., A. Petlum and O. Pimpa. 1999. Strategic supplementation with a high quality feed block on roughage intake, milk yield and composition and economic return in lactating dairy cows. *Asian-Aust. J. Anim. Sci.* 12:901-903.
- Wallace, R. J. and C. J. Newbold. 1992. Probiotics for ruminants, Pages 317-353 in R. Fuller, ed. *Probiotics: The scientific basis*. Chapman and Hall, London, UK.
- Yoon, I. K., and M. D. Stern. 1996. Effects of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and *Aspergillus oryzae* cultures on ruminal fermentation in dairy cows. *J. Dairy Sci.* 79: 411-417.
- Zain M, Arnim, R.W.S. Ningrat and R. Herawati. 2011. Effect Of Yeast (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*) On Fermentability, Microbial Population and Digestibility Low Quality Roughage (In Vitro). *Archiva Zootechnica.* 14: 4-11.

Formatted: Line spacing: single

Table 1. Chemical composition of rice straw and urea-molasses, as well as buffalo diets.

Item	DM	OM	CP	NDF	ADF	Lignin	C	HC
Rice straw80%+UMS20%	86.03	90.07	10.14	63.37	41.15	6.31	29.67	22.22
Rice straw	92.98	83.76	4.83	76.14	47.97	7.07	37.50	28.17
UMS	80.69	66.64	31.41	15.61	11.42	2.78	6.66	4.19
Rice bran	90.67	74.41	6.36	55.79	47.03	11.85	23.95	8.76
Solid Tofu Wastes	96.00	93.05	20.29	48.25	23.60	2.64	20.46	24.65
Cassava meal	84.41	83.19	1.85	22.34	5.08	0.82	4.32	17.26

UMS, urea-molasses supplementation; DM, dry matter; OM, organic matter; CP, crude protein; NDF, neutral detergent fiber; ADF, acid detergent fiber; C, cellulose; HC, hemicellulose

Formatted: Font: Bold

Commented [MB53]: Be sure that all values are presented with the correct number of significant digits.

Commented [MB54]: Units for each category should be provided in parenthesis, whether or not they are all the same.

Commented [MB55]: These percentages should either precede the item they pertain to or be placed in parenthesis following the item they pertain to.

Commented [MB56]: This "s" should be deleted.

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, First line: 0 cm, Line spacing: single

Formatted: Line spacing: single

Table 2. Degradability, rumen pH, N-NH₃, volatile fatty acid (VFA) concentration, bacterial and protozoan populations with yeast supplementation.

	Yeast Supplementation (g.head ⁻¹ .day ⁻¹)					SE	Sig.
	0	2.5	5.0	7.5	10		
Degradability		43.2	48.2	46.9			0.000
DM	34.35 ^a	2 ^b	5 ^{cd}	9 ^c	49.87 ^d	1.32	
OM	33.08 ^a	7 ^b	6 ^c	8 ^c	47.94 ^c	1.31	0.000
NDF	43.29 ^a	44.7 ^{ab}	45.7 ^b	46.1 ^b	48.61 ^c	0.62	0.010
ADF	48.22	49.5	48.2	49.5	51.04	0.43	0.192
Cellulose	2.99 ^a	6.09 ^b	5.53 ^b	4.51 ^{ab}	5.47 ^b	0.37	0.028
Hemicellulose	32.65 ^a	40.8 ^b	40.2 ^b	38.4 ^b	50.28 ^c	1.67	0.001
pH	6.84 ^c	6.82 ^{bc}	6.83 ^c	6.78 ^a	6.80 ^{ab}	0.01	0.000
N-NH ₃	7.57 ^a	5 ^b	7 ^b	9.41 ^{ab}	10.19 ^b	0.37	0.001
Total VFA	56.52 ^a	92.0	85.8	74.6		4.06	0.000
Cellulolytic		5 ^b	8 ^b	3 ^{ab}	94.10 ^b		0.348
Bacteria	5.36	5.38	6.09	4.30	5.89	0.29	
Protozoa	4.83	5.10	5.17	4.85	5.05	0.06	0.175

DM, dry matter; OM, organic matter; NDF, neutral detergent fiber; ADF, acid detergent fiber

Commented [MB57]: Be sure that all values are presented with the correct number of significant digits.

Commented [MB58]: Most journals prefer each table to be on a separate page.

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Commented [MB63]: Units should only be included in the table for clarity.

Commented [MB64]: These units should be reformatted as follows: g·head⁻¹·d⁻¹

Commented [MB65]: Please deabbreviate this term in the table legend (below the table).

Commented [MB66]: If this refers to the P-value, then this should actually say "P-value". Readers can refer to the Methods section to determine what cut-off value was considered significant.

Commented [MB67]: All superscripted letter found in this table (a-c) must be defined in the table legend (below the table).

Formatted: Highlight

Commented [MB68]: Decimal points (".") and commas (",") are not interchangeable when used with numbers in English. Decimal points are only used to separate fractions of whole numbers (e.g., 0.1 = one-one hundredth), whereas commas are only used to separate 10-thousands (10,000), 100-thousands (100,000), 1-millions places (1,000,000), etc.

This should be changed to a "." Other places where this is an issue are highlighted in yellow.

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Commented [MB69]: This word should be spelled as follows: cellulolytic

Formatted: Line spacing: single



asep ali <asepali76@gmail.com>

Trs: Edited manuscript BES2485

Sofia Sandi <sofiasandi_nasir@yahoo.com>

Mon, Oct 12, 2015 at 1:55 PM

Reply-To: Sofia Sandi <sofiasandi_nasir@yahoo.com>

To: Ali Asep <asepali76@gmail.com>, FP NMT Asep <indranutrisi@yahoo.co.id>

Pada Senin, 12 Oktober 2015 12:54, Bioscience Editing Solutions <info@bioscienceeditingsolutions.com> menulis:

Dear Ali,

Please find attached edited manuscript. Thank you.

Regards,
Nancy



Edited manuscript BES2485.doc

207K



asep ali <asepali76@gmail.com>

perbaikan manuscript Pakistan Journal of Nutrition

asep ali <asepali76@gmail.com>

Sun, Oct 18, 2015 at 7:55 PM

To: Sofia Sandi <sofiasandi_nasir@yahoo.com>

bos, ini perbaikannya. tolong dicek penulisan judul tabel 2 (halaman terakhir) editornya minta satuan degradability, pH, NNH3 dilnya gak usah ditulis katanya. gmn kira2? menurutku satuannya harus ditulis kan? mungkin halo2nya seperti ini:

Dear Editor Pakistan Journal of Nutrition

Bellow, we attached our edited manuscript based on suggestion and correction from Bioscience Editor which include:

1. Definition of abbreviation,
2. Serial commas and point of American English Style,
3. citation position on a paragraph
4. some explanations of material and methods which we used
5. the explanations of discussion which refer to current study or previous study and sentences which explained our result study and comparison with previous studies
6. and some writing errors

we always kindly await for further news from you, thank you

Best Regards
S. Sandi

**Edited manuscript BES2485.doc**

225K

Evaluation of yeast supplementation with urea-molasses in rice straw-based diets on *in vitro* ruminal fermentation

Ali A.I.M.,¹ S. Sandi,¹ Riswandi,¹ A. Imsya,¹ A. Prabowo,² N. Rofiq³

¹Department of Animal Science, Faculty of Agriculture, University of Sriwijaya

Jl. Palembang-Prabumulih km 32, Indralaya, Ogan Ilir, Sumatera Selatan, Indonesia 30662

Tel.: +62711581106; Fax: +62711580276 (email: asep_ali@fp.unsri.ac.id).

²South Sumatra Agricultural Institute for Assessment Technology, (BPPT) Indonesia

(email: nasir_rofiq@yahoo.com)

³Agency for The Assessment and Application of Technology (BPTP) (email:

agung_pbowo@yahoo.com)

Abstract: The effects of yeast supplementation on *in vitro* fermentation characteristics of rice straw and urea-molasses diets in Indonesian swamp buffalo were examined; five doses of yeast (0, 2.5, 5.0, 7.5, and 10 g•head⁻¹•d⁻¹) were tested. The results indicated that yeast supplementation increased dry and organic matter, neutral detergent fiber, cellulose, and hemicellulose degradability, ammonia-nitrogen and total volatile fatty acid concentration, and decreased the ruminal pH but had no effect on acid detergent fiber degradability or cellulolytic bacterial or protozoan populations. Supplementation with yeast supported ruminal fermentation of urea-molasses and rice straw-based diets, with 5.0 g yeast•head⁻¹•d⁻¹ showing the greatest response for most variables tested.

Key words: Yeast, degradability, cellulolytic bacterial and protozoan populations

INTRODUCTION

The grazing of buffalo in nontidal swamps in Lebak, South Sumatra (Indonesia) has long since been an effort to utilize deep swamps for meat and milk production. However, the population of swamp buffalo in some subdistricts of South Sumatra have declined due to poor management and especially insufficient feed supplies during the dry season (Ali *et al.*, 2013). Like other ruminants in developing countries, swamp buffalo in these subdistricts are predominantly maintained on low-grade roughage and graze on degraded range land, resulting in poor nutrient utilization and productivity. Therefore, forages must be enhanced in accordance with the swamp agroecosystem. One way to do so is through utilization of Lebak swamp rice straw to enhance forage supplies in the dry season.

Rice straw production each year is plentiful in South Sumatra and can potentially overcome the shortage of ruminant feed. The South Sumatra Central Bureau of Statistics (BPS) recorded swamp paddy production of dry unhulled rice to be around 1.65 million tons in 2011. On average, 0.83 kg of straw is produced with each kilogram of paddy grain (Trach, 1998), resulting in 1.37 million tons of rice straw produced in swamp areas. However, there are some limitations to utilizing rice straw as ruminant feed. Rice straw consists predominantly of cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin, and ruminant organisms need other nutrients for growth and metabolism (Hoover, 1986). Since rice straw does not contain enough sugars, amino acids, and minerals for efficient microbial growth, feeding ruminants only rice straw without further supplementation results in poor performance (Doyle *et al.*, 1986). Supplementation of rice straw rations with protein, energy, and/or minerals, such as concentrates, molasses, multinutrient blocks, green leaves, crop residues, and locally available byproducts may optimize rumen function, while maximizing utilization of rice straw.

Urea-molasses is widely used for supplementation of swamp buffalo (Ali *et al.*, 2013b; Tanwar *et al.*, 2013; Thu *et al.*, 2000; Thu & Uden 2001; Tiwari *et al.*, 1990) and other ruminants ((Vu *et al.*, 1999; Wanapat *et al.*, 1999; Akter *et al.*, 2004) with straw-based diets. Moreover, yeast (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*) supplementation can beneficially modify microbial activity, fermentation, and digestive functions in the rumen. Most investigators agree that yeast can have measurable effects on ruminal fermentation and results in beneficial changes in digestion. However, there are limited reports regarding yeast supplementation of high roughage ratios with urea-molasses and rice straw-based diets. The main objectives of the current study were to investigate the effect yeast supplementation on *in vitro* ruminal fermentation of urea-molasses with rice straw-based diets.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Substrate and Rumen Liquor Preparation: The substrate for *in vitro* rumenal fermentation was a dry matter-based mixed ratio of rice straw (80%) and 20% urea-molasses supplementation (1.85% urea, 5.94% molasses, 4.83% rice bran, 3.50% tofu-waste, 2.05% cassava meal, 0.92% NaCl, 0.49% limestone flour, 0.36% trisodium phosphate, and 0.05% mineral and vitamin premix). Diets were estimated according to the requirements of a 200-kg swamp buffalo with a 5.22-kg dry matter intake and 0.62-kg weight change per day (Thu and Uden, 2001). The chemical composition of diets is reported in Table 1.

Rice straw (*Oryza sativa* var. ciherang) was harvested on August 2014 from the swamp paddy field, dried in an oven (60 °C), and ground. Rice bran, limestone flour, and trisodium phosphate were obtained from a traditional market in the Ogan Ilir district. Solid tofu waste (local name: “ampas tahu”) from the local tofu industry was dried in an oven

(60 °C) after being milled and extracting the soybeans. Cassava meal was prepared from bitter cassava roots, cut into thin slices, and sun-dried. All ingredients were ground and sifted through a 1-mm screen for chemical analysis. The mineral and vitamin premix (cattle mix) contained 1 g Mg•kg⁻¹, 1 g Co•kg⁻¹, 3.3 g P•kg⁻¹, 7 g Ca•kg⁻¹, 6.5 g Na•kg⁻¹, 1 g S•kg⁻¹, 50 mg Fe•kg⁻¹, 40 mg Mn•kg⁻¹, 30 mg Zn•kg⁻¹, 8 mg Cu•kg⁻¹, 500 µg I•kg⁻¹, 200 µg Se•kg⁻¹, 30,000 IU vitamin A•kg⁻¹, 3500 IU vitamin D•kg⁻¹, and 900 IU vitamin E•kg⁻¹. The yeast used for supplementation was Yea-Sacc¹⁰²⁶, a yeast culture with a declared concentration of 10⁹ CFU•g⁻¹, 34.58% crude protein, 7.2% crude fat, 10.44% acid detergent fiber (ADF), and 7.42% ash.

The dry matter content was determined by oven-drying at 105 °C for 24 h. The organic matter was determined by ashing at 550 °C for 4 h. Total nitrogen content was determined according to the Kjeldahl method (AOAC, 1995). The content of neutral detergent fiber (NDF), ADF, cellulose, and hemicellulose in the rice straw was determined using the method reported by Van Soest *et al.* (1991). Rumen liquor was collected from swamp buffalo rumen at a slaughter house. These buffalo were fed a diet consisting of *Oryza rufipogon*, *Eleocharis dulcis*, and *Hymenachne acutigluma* in the Rambutan subdistrict of Banyuasin district, South Sumatra province. Ruminal contents from buffalo were strained through two layers of cheese cloth and kept at 39 °C under a CO₂ atmosphere.

***In Vitro* Fermentation (Tilley & Terry, 1963):** The substrate (1 g) was put into a 100-ml fermentation tube, and 40 ml of McDougall buffer and 10 ml of rumen liquor were added. McDougall buffer (6 L) contained 58.8 g NaHCO₃, 42 g Na₂HPO₄•7H₂O, 3.42 g KCl, 2.82 g NaCl, 0.72 g MgSO₄•7H₂O, 0.24 g CaCl₂, and H₂O. The mixture was stirred and flushed

with O₂-free CO₂, and then the tubes were sealed with a rubber fitted with the gas release valve. All fermentation tubes were incubated in a shaking water bath at 39 °C for 48 h.

Estimation of volatile fatty acid (VFA) and ammonia-nitrogen (N-NH₃)

Concentration and *In Vitro* Degradability: Measurement of total VFA content was done using a previously reported steam distillation method (General Laboratory Procedures, 1966), and the N-NH₃ concentration was determined using a previous microdiffusion method (Conway, 1962). The total VFA concentration in rumenal fluid was determined by Markham's distillation. To determine the *in vitro* degradability of dry and organic matter, NDF, ADF, cellulose, and hemicellulose (Van Soest *et al.*, 1991), the content of the fermentation tube incubated for 48 h was transferred into a new tube and centrifuged at 2500 rpm for 20 min at room temperature. After, the supernatant was discarded, and the remaining residue was passed through a filter paper (Whatman no. 41). The residue of each fermentation tube was dried to a constant weight at 105 °C for 24 h to determine *in vitro* degradability.

Protozoal and Bacterial Counts: After a 48-h incubation, a 1-ml aliquot was taken from each fermentation tube for analysis of protozoan and bacterial populations. The contents of the fermentation tube were mixed properly and 1 ml of the sample was mixed with 1 ml methyl green formaldehyde saline solution containing 35% formaldehyde, distilled water, methyl green, and NaCl (Ogimoto & Imai, 1981). The stained sample was kept at room temperature, and protozoan populations were counted using a counting chamber (0.1 mm) and a microscope (40X objective). Bacterial populations were determined using a roll-tube technique (Hungate, 1969).

Experimental design: The completely randomized design of the current study was chosen to evaluate five different doses of yeast (0, 2.5, 5.0, 7.5, and 10 g•head⁻¹•d⁻¹) with four replications. Data were analyzed by analysis of variance, and mean values were tested for differences using Duncan's New Multi-Range Test.

RESULTS

The chemical composition of the rice straw and urea-molasses, as well as buffalo diet ingredients, are presented in Table 1. pH, VFA, and N-NH₃ are important parameters reflecting ruminal environment. Yeast supplementation decreased the ruminal pH by 0.06 units compared to controls (Table 2). The highest pH occurred in samples with 0 g yeast supplementation, and the lowest was seen with 7.5 g yeast. Nonetheless, the ruminal pH range in all sample groups was optimal (6.0-6.9). The concentration of N-NH₃ was 7.57, 10.05, 11.07, 9.41, and 10.19 mM with 0, 2.5, 5.0, 7.5, and 10 g yeast, respectively (P<0.01; Table 2). VFA concentrations were significantly higher (P<0.01) in yeast-supplemented diets (74.63-94.10 mM) compared to the control diet (56.52 mM; Table 2). Results of this trial showed that yeast could not stimulate growth of cellulolytic bacterial and protozoan populations.

In vitro degradability of dry and organic matter was increased by supplementation with yeast (P<0.01). Dry and organic matter degradability with 5.0 g yeast was similar to that with 7.5 and 10 g yeast but higher than with 0 and 2.5 g (P<0.01). Furthermore, yeast supplementation affected NDF degradability but not ADF.

DISCUSSION

The chemical composition of rice straw was similar to results reported previously (Tan *et al.*, 1996; Thalib *et al.*, 2000; Van Soest 2006). This rice straw had greater NDF,

ADF, cellulose, and hemicellulose and lower crude protein content compared to the others. Moreover, urea-molasses supplementation with locally available products decreased the fiber fraction and increased crude protein content in the diet.

Although there were significant differences on rumen pH among the different yeast treatments in the current study, the differences were small. Ruminant pH affects digestibility of feed stuffs. Fibrolytic bacteria are very sensitive and dependent on pH changes. In fact, the digestibility of organic matter, NDF, and nitrogen decrease at pH 5.8 and increase at pH 6.2. Production of total VFA content was shown to be highest between pH 6.2 and 6.6 in high concentrate diets (Shriver *et al.*, 1986). Sung *et al.* (2007) reported increases in dry matter digestion and VFA production from pH 6.2 to 6.7 after 48 h of *in vitro* rumen fermentation. Dolezal *et al.* (2011) reported that yeast supplementation increased ruminal pH in high concentrate diets, while Mao *et al.* (2013) found that ruminal pH increased in rice straw- but decreased in corn stover-based substrate diets with yeast supplementation. The current results are consistent with results observed by Lynch and Martin (2002), where live cells decreased ruminal pH when alfalfa hay was incubated. These differences in ruminal pH were likely associated with the lactic acid concentration and differences in substrate degradation with yeast supplementation. Compared with Thu and Uden (2001), the control treatment had a similar pH but lower concentration of NH₃.

Ammonia is the main source of nitrogen for microbial protein synthesis (Bach *et al.*, 2005). The present results showed that yeast supplementation increased the N-NH₃ concentration. This is in agreement with Mao *et al.* (2013) who reported a N-NH₃ concentration of 8.0 mg per 100 ml in controls and 8.3-10.5 mg per 100 ml in animals supplemented with rice straw. Zain *et al.* (2011) found that yeast supplementation decreased N-NH₃ concentrations in ammoniated rice straw. Opsi *et al.* (2012) reported that yeast supplementation increased N-NH₃ in high forage diets but did not affect high

concentrate diets. It is likely that increases in N-NH₃ output represent microbial degradation of large amounts of yeast cells which have a high protein content.

Supplementation of high-fiber diets with yeast additives affected total VFA production in the current study. This result is consistent with the slight decline in rumen pH discussed above and also agree with reports by Mao *et al.* (2013), Zain *et al.* (2011), and Opsi *et al.* (2012), among other *in vivo* studies, indicating stimulation of rumen microbial fermentation activity. This alteration in ruminal VFA by yeast supplementation could contribute to improved feed efficiency in swamp buffalo. Wallace and Newbold (1992) suggested that variable responses in VFA production and patterns are a consequence of the effects of yeast on rumen microbial numbers rather than a direct effect on ruminal fermentation.

Data regarding the 48-h degradability of diets in the present study are presented in Table 2; the current results generally agree with previous experiments (Lila *et al.*, 2004; Tang *et al.*, 2008; Zain *et al.*, 2011). Lila *et al.* (2004) reported that *in vitro* dry matter degradability increased with yeast supplementation of sudangrass hay and **concentrate** mixtures. Zain *et al.* (2011) reported that yeast supplementation increased dry and organic matter, NDF, ADF, and cellulose degradability. Herawaty *et al.* (2013) reported that yeast supplementation increased the degradability of organic matter, NDF, and ADF more than a diet of unsupplemented rice straw alone. When yeast was supplemented at 5.0 g•kg⁻¹, the greatest dry matter degradability occurred for maize stover, maize stover silage, and wheat straw but generally decreased with rice straw. On the other hand, yeast supplementation increased organic matter degradability of maize stover, maize stover silage, and rice straw (Tang *et al.*, 2008). Opsi *et al.* (2012) reported that supplementation of yeast had not effect on dry matter and NDF digestibility in high and low forage ratio diets.

In the present study, yeast supplementation did not significantly affect bacterial and protozoan numbers in the *in vitro* fermentation test even though they tended to increase. Previous studies have reported that yeast supplementation increased cellulolytic bacteria and protozoa significantly *in vitro* (Mao *et al.*, 2013; Newbold *et al.*, 1995; Zain *et al.* 2011) and *in vivo* in buffalo (Kumar *et al.*, 2013). However, no significant effect of yeast on protozoa was observed (Hristov *et al.* 2010; Yoon and Stern, 1996). Increased dry and organic matter, NDF, cellulose, and hemicellulose degradability, as well as VFA production with different substrates could be attributed to an increased fiber-digesting bacterial population.

CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS

It is concluded that yeast supplementation of urea-molasses and rice straw diets increases the degradability of dry and organic matter, NDF, cellulose, and hemicellulose, the concentration of N-NH₃ and VFA, but decreases the rumen pH. The current results also showed that supplementation with 5.0 g yeast•head⁻¹•d⁻¹ provides the greatest response for most variables tested. *In vivo* studies of yeast supplementation should be implemented in future to optimize the utilization of dietary nutrients and improve production in buffalo fed low-quality roughage.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Financial support for this work was provided by a competitive research grant from the Sriwijaya University (Palembang, Indonesia) in 2014. The authors would like to thank the Research Center for Sub-Optimal Lands, and Laboratory of Animal Nutrition and Feed Science of Sriwijaya University, as well as the Laboratory of Dairy Science and Technology, Bogor Agricultural University (Bogor, Indonesia) for use of their facilities.

REFERENCES

- Akter, Y., M. A. Akbar, M. Shahjalal and T. U. Ahmed. 2004. Effect of urea molasses multi-nutrient blocks supplementation of dairy cows fed rice straw and green grasses on milk yield, composition, live weight gain of cows and calves and feed intake. *Pak. J. Biol. Sci.* 7(9):1523-1525.
- Ali A.I.M., S. Sandi, Muhakka, Riswandi. 2013a. The grazing of pampangan buffaloes at non tidal swamp in south sumatra of Indonesia. Prosiding the 2013 3rd International Conference on Asia Agriculture and Animal (ICAAA2013). 27-28 Juli 2013 di Moscow, Russia (Available online at www.elsevier.com/locate/procedia or www.sciencedirect.com).
- Ali A.I.M., S. Sandi, Muhakka, Riswandi. 2013b. Aplikasi Teknologi Pengelolaan Pakan & Upaya Pemuliaan Kerbau Pampangan Sebagai Plasma Nutfah Sumatera Selatan. Research Report 2013. Ministry of Science & Technology, Republic of Indonesia.. http://insentif.ristek.go.id/assets/docs/Direktori_Insinas_2013.pdf
- AOAC. 1995. Official Methods of Analysis. 16th ed. Assoc. Off. Anal.Chem., Arlington, VA.
- Bach, A., S. Calsamiglia, and M. D. Stern. 2005. Nitrogen metabolism in the rumen. *J. Dairy Sci.* 88 (E. Suppl), E9-E21.
- BPS. 2010. Biro Pusat Statistik. Produksi Padi tahun 2010. Jakarta.
- Conway, E. J. 1962. Microdiffusion Analysis and Volumetric Error. 5th ed. Crosby Lockwood, London
- Doležal p, Jan Dvořáček, J Doležal, J Čermáková, L Zeman, K Szwedziak. 2011. Effect of feeding yeast culture on ruminal fermentation and blood indicators of Holstein dairy cows. *Acta Vet. Brno* 80: 139–145

- Doyle, P. T., C. Devendra and G. R. Pearce. 1986. Rice straw as a feed for ruminants. IDP, Canberra, Australia.
- General Laboratory Procedures. 1966. Department of Dairy Science. University of Wisconsin, Madison.
- Herawaty R., N. Jamarun, M. Zain, Arnim and R.W.S. Ningrat. 2013. Effect of Supplementation *Sacharomyces cerevisiae* and *Leucaena leucocephala* on Low Quality Roughage Feed in Beef Cattle Diet. Pakistan Journal of Nutrition 12: 182-184.
- Hungate R.E. 1969, A Roll tube method for cultivation of strict anaerobe, in Method in Microbiology (Ed. J. R. Norris and D. W. Ribbons), Academic Press, New York, , p. 313.
- Hoover, W. H. 1986. Chemical factors involved in ruminal fiber digestion. J. Dairy Sci. 69:2755-2766.
- Hristov, A. N., G. Varga, T. Cassidy, M. Long, K. Heyler, S. K. R. Kaenati, B. Corl, J. Hovde, and I. Yoon. 2010. Effect of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* fermentation product on ruminal fermentation and nutrient utilization in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 93: 682-692.
- Kumar D.S, Ch. Srinivasa Prasad and R.M.V. Prasad. 2013. Effect of yeast culture (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*) on ruminal microbial population in buffalo bulls. Buffalo bulletin 32:116-120.
- Lila, Z. A., N. Mohammed, T. Yasui, Y.Kurokawa, S. Kanda and H. Itabashi, 2004. Effects of twin strain of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* live cells on mixed ruminal microorganism fermentation in vitro. J. Anim. Sci., 82: 1847–1854.

- Lynch, H.A. and Martin, S. A. 2002. Effects of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* culture and *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* live cells on *in vitro* mixed ruminal microorganism fermentation. *J. Dairy Sci.* 85, 2603–2608.
- Mao H.L., Mao H.L., J.K. Wang, J.X. Liu and I. Yoon. 2013. Effects of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* fermentation product on *in vitro* fermentation and microbial communities of low-quality forages and mixed diets. *J Anim Sci* 91: 3291-3298
- Newbold C. J., Wallace R. J and. Mcintosh F. M. (1995): Different strains of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* differ in their effects on ruminal bacterial numbers *in vitro* and in sheep. *J. Anim. Sci.* 73,1811–1818.
- Ogimoto, K. & S. Imai. 1981. Atlas of Rumen Microbiology. Japan Scientific Societies Press. Tokyo. pp. 201-221.
- Opsi F., R. Fortina, S. Tassone, R. Bodas and S. López. 2012. . Effects of inactivated and live cells of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* on *in vitro* ruminal fermentation of diets with different forage: concentrate ratio. *J. Agri Sci.* 150, 271–283
- Shiver, B.J., W.H. Hoover, J.P. Sargen, R. Crawford and W.V. Thayne. 1986. Fermentation of high concentrate as affected by rumen pH and digesta flow. *J. Dairy Sci* 69:413-419.
- Singh P and J.Kishan. 1999. Evaluation of various modes of urea supplementation in straw based diets of Murrah buffalo calves. *Indian J. Anim. Sci.* 69: 986-987.
- Sung H.G, Y. Kobayashi, J. Chang, A. Ha, I. H. Hwang, and J. K. Ha. 2007. Low ruminal pH reduces dietary fiber digestion via reduced microbial attachment. *Asian-Aust. J. Anim. Sci.* 20: 200 – 207.
- Tang, S.X., Tayo, G.O., Tan, Z.L., Sun, Z.H., Shen, L.X., Zhou, C.S., Xiao, W.J., Ren, G.P., Han, X.F. and Shen, S.B., 2008. Effects of yeast culture and fibrolytic

- enzyme supplementation on *in vitro* fermentation characteristics of low-quality cereal straws. *J. Anim. Sci.* 86:1164–1172.
- Tanwar P.S., YKumar and R.S. Rathore. 2013. Effect of urea molasses mineral block (UMMB) supplementation on milk production in buffaloes under rural management practices. *The Journal of Rural and Agricultural Research* 13:, 19-21
- Tan, Z. L., H. P. Chen, and T. X. Xing. 1996. Comparative study on fiber characteristics of rice and wheat straw. *Asian-australalian J. Anim. Sci.* 9:51–56.
- Thalib, A., J. Bestari, Y. Widiawati, H. Hamid dan D.Suherman. 2000. Effect of rice straw silage treated with rumen microbes of buffalo on digestibility and ecosystem of cattle rumen. *J. Ilmu Ternak & Veteriner* 5: 1-6.
- Tilley, J. M. & R. A. Terry. 1963. A two stage technique for *in vitro* digestion of forage crops. *J. British Grassland Society* 18:104-111.
- Thu, N.V. and P. Uden. 2000. Effect of work and urea-molasses cake supplementation on live weight and milk yield of murreh buffalo cows. *Asian-Aust. J. of Anim Sci.* 13:1329-1336
- Thu, N.V., and Uden, P. 2001. Effect of urea molasses cake supplementation of swamp buffaloes fed rice straw or grasses on rumen environment, feed degradation and intake. *Asian Aust J Anim Sci.* 14: 631-39.
- Tiwari S.P., U.B. Singh and U.R. Mehra. 1990. Urea Molasses Mineral Blocks as a Feed Supplement: Effect on Growth and Nutrient Utilization in Buffalo Calves. *Animal Feed Science and Technology.* 29:333-341.

- Trach, N.X. 1998. The need for improved utilisation of rice straw as feed for ruminants in Vietnam. *Livestock Research for Rural Development*, 10.
- Van Soest, P. J., J. B. Robertson, and B. A. Lewis. 1991. Methods for dietary fiber, neutral detergent fiber and non-starch polysaccharides in relation to animal nutrition. *J. Dairy Sci.* 74:3583–3597.
- Vu, D. D., L. X. Cuong, C. A. Dung and P. H. Hai. 1999. Use of urea-molasses-multinutrient block and urea-treated rice straw for improving dairy cattle productivity in Vietnam. *Prev. Vet. Med* 38:187-193.
- Wanapat, M., A. Petlum and O. Pimpa. 1999. Strategic supplementation with a high quality feed block on roughage intake, milk yield and composition and economic return in lactating dairy cows. *Asian-Aust. J. Anim. Sci.* 12:901-903.
- Wallace, R. J. and C. J. Newbold. 1992. Probiotics for ruminants, Pages 317-353 in R. Fuller, ed. *Probiotics: The scientific basis*. Chapman and Hall, London, UK.
- Yoon, I. K., and M. D. Stern. 1996. Effects of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and *Aspergillus oryzae* cultures on ruminal fermentation in dairy cows. *J. Dairy Sci.* 79: 411-417.
- Zain M, Arnim, R.W.S. Ningrat and R. Herawati. 2011. Effect Of Yeast (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*) On Fermentability, Microbial Population and Digestibility Low Quality Roughage (In Vitro). *Archiva Zootechnica.* 14: 4-11.

Table 1. Chemical composition of rice straw and urea-molasses, as well as buffalo diets.

Item	DM	OM	CP	NDF	ADF	Lignin	C	HC
Rice straw80%+UMS20%	86.03	90.07	10.14	63.37	41.15	6.31	29.67	22.22
Rice straw	92.98	83.76	4.83	76.14	47.97	7.07	37.50	28.17
UMS	80.69	66.64	31.41	15.61	11.42	2.78	6.66	4.19
Rice bran	90.67	74.41	6.36	55.79	47.03	11.85	23.95	8.76
Solid Tofu Wastes	96.00	93.05	20.29	48.25	23.60	2.64	20.46	24.65
Cassava meal	84.41	83.19	1.85	22.34	5.08	0.82	4.32	17.26

UMS, urea-molasses supplementation; DM, dry matter; OM, organic matter; CP, crude protein; NDF, neutral detergent fiber; ADF, acid detergent fiber; C, cellulose; HC, hemicellulose

Table 2. Degradability, rumen pH, N-NH₃, volatile fatty acid (VFA) concentration, bacterial and protozoan populations with yeast supplementation.

	Yeast Supplementation (g.head ⁻¹ .day ⁻¹)					SE	Sig.
	0	2.5	5.0	7.5	10		
Degradability							
DM	34.35 ^a	43.2 ^{2b}	48.2 ^{5^{cd}}	46.9 ^{9^c}	49.87 ^d	1.32	0.000
OM	33.08 ^a	42.2 ^{7b}	46.8 ^{6^c}	46.2 ^{8^c}	47.94 ^c	1.31	0.000
NDF	43,29 ^a	44,7 ^{ab}	45,7 ^b	46,1 ^b	48,61 ^c	0,62	0,010
ADF	48,22	49,5	48,2	49,5	51,04	0,43	0,192
Cellulose	2,99 ^a	6,09 ^b	5,53 ^b	4,51 ^{ab}	5,47 ^b	0,37	0,028
Hemicellulose	32,65 ^a	40,8 ^{3b}	40,2 ^{2^b}	38,4 ^{1^{ab}}	50,28 ^c	1,67	0,001
pH	6.84 ^c	6.82 ^{bc}	6.83 ^c	6.78 ^a	6.80 ^{ab}	0.01	0.000
N-NH ₃	7.57 ^a	10.0 ^{5b}	11.0 ^{7^b}	9.41 ^{ab}	10.19 ^b	0.37	0.001
Total VFA	56.52 ^a	92.0 ^{5b}	85.8 ^{8^b}	74.6 ^{3^{ab}}	94.10 ^b	4.06	0.000
Cellulolytic							0.348
Bacteria	5.36	5.38	6.09	4.30	5.89	0.29	
Protozoa	4.83	5.10	5.17	4.85	5.05	0.06	0.175

DM, dry matter; OM, organic matter; NDF, neutral detergent fiber; ADF, acid detergent fiber